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UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

Case No. 17-cv-80341-BLOOM /Valle
SERGIO MAXIMILIANO,
Plaintiff,
V.
SIMM ASSOCIATES, INC.,

Defendant.
/

ORDER
THIS CAUSE is before the Court upon DefendanMotion for Summary Judgment,
ECF No. [34] (the “Motion”). The Court has carefully revied the Motion, the record, all
supporting and opposing filings, the exhibits attactiesteto, and is otherwise fully advised.
For the reasons that follow, [B@dant’s Motion is granted.
I. BACKGROUND

1. Plaintiff's Claims

Plaintiff, Sergio Maximiliano (“Plaintiff), has filed a putative class action against
Defendant Simm Associates, Inc. (“Simm”) asserting claims for purported violations of the Fair
Debt Collection Practices A¢tFDCPA”). SeeECF No. [8]. Plainfi’s claims are based upon a
September 12, 2016 demand letter sent by Simmrsgekiyment of a consumer debt. The letter

directed to Plaintiff states in pertinent part:

CLIENT: PAYPAL CREDIT ORIGINAL CREDITOR: Comenity Capital Bank
BALANCE $3,986.07 ORIGINATION DATE: 09/17/2013
ACCOUNT #: *rxxkirixsix 7010 CH ARGED OFF: 10/23/2015

SIMM #: ***8871
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Your account has been forwarded to this office for collections. This is a formal

demand upon you for your payment of thisbt; however our client, PAYPAL

CREDIT, has authorized us to actep discounted payoff of your current

outstanding balance to settlee account in full.
SeeECF No. [8-1].

The demand letter identifies “PAYPAL @&®IT” as the “CLIENT” on whose behalf
Simm seeks to collect the debt and “Comenity Capital Bank” as the “ORIGINAL CREDITOR.”
SeeECF No. [8] at 11 14-15 (caps amiginal). It does not lisa current creditor even though
Comenity Capital Bank (“Comenityis the current creditorld. at 116; ECF Ng58] at 1 6-7.

The two-count Amended Complaint su&mm for a violation of 15 U.S.C. §
1692g(a)(2) for failure to mae the creditor to whortihe debt is owed in the demand letter and a
violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1692e for sending a eussling and false demand letter that identifies
PayPal Credit as the creditor (“CLIENT”) even though Comenity is the creditor to whom the
debt is owed.SeeECF No. [8]. It is undisputed th&iaintiff is a “consumer” as defined by 15
U.S.C. 81692a(3) and that Simm is a “debt collector” as defined by 15 U.S.C. 816 Re¢6CF
No. [58] at 71 1-2.

2. PayPal Credit

PayPal Credit allows consumers to make @nprchases without ugjra credit card by

offering an open-ended ciieghlan from Comenity. SeeECF No. [35] at { 8.PayPal Credit

! For thosestatements that are undisputed, the Court citesttyi to the parties’ respective Statements of
Undisputed Facts
2 In his Response to Defendant's Statement of Undisputed Facts (“Statement”), Plaintiff disputed
paragraphs 8 through 30 and 32 through 44 by lodging the same objection thro&geiCF No. [58].
Specifically, Plaintiff objected because the exhilsiteached to Defendant’'s Statement have not been
authenticated. Id. For that reason, Plaintiff argues thhe documents should be stricken from the
summary judgment recordd. Beyond this objection, Plaintiff did not submit any evidence to dispute
the facts asserted in these paragraphs. While tlet @2cognizes that Federal Rule of Civil Procedure
56(e) previously required that documents be autbateil by and attached to an affidavit, that is no
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works like a virtual credit card in that Comenfigys the merchant on the consumer’s behalf,
and then seeks repayment from the consumer fexedhsions of @&dit it has been authorized to
charge to the consumer’s accoddt.at § 9. In this case, Plaintiff opened a Comenity account
that was branded and markdtas PayPal Creditd. at § 10.

In support of its Motion, Simm provided sere shots of the PayPal homepage, which
identifies PayPal Credit at the top of the scredsh. at 1 11-12. Advertising on the PayPal
website makes repeated references to PayRditGuch as: “When you need to buy something,
you don’t want to wait. With PayPal Credit, you @roy special financing offers . . . .;” “Easy
Payments with PayPal Credéts you get what you need, when you need it, and budget your
payments as you go;” “Whether you are on youmngoter or on your mobile device, PayPal
Credit gives you the flexibility to check your statents, make payments and more right from

your PayPal account.ld. at § 13.

longer required under the current version of Rule Jte current version now states: “A party may
object that the material cited to support or dispute a fact cannot be presented in a form that would be
admissible in evidence.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(c)(2). “[U]nder current Rule 56, an objection cannot be
based solely on evidence not being autlvatéid—the objection must be that evidermzanot be
presented in admissible form, not that the evidérasenotbeen presented in admissible fornAbbott v.
Elwood Staffing Servs., Inal4 F. Supp. 3d 1125, 1135 (N.D. Ala. 2014) (emphasis in origiGai¢. also
Cosmo v. Carnival Corp272 F. Supp. 3d 1336 (S.D. Fla. 2017) (finding that document relied upon in
opposition to motion for summary judgment “need notabthenticated” because all that is required is
that “evidence be presentable in admissible forrmiat). Plaintiff’'s objection is not that the evidence
cannot be presented in an admissible form at trialthat the documents havet been authenticated.
Because authentication is no longer a requiremetiteasummary judgment stage and Plaintiff does not
argue that documents are fabricated or cannot othebsis@ithenticated at tridPlaintiff’'s objections are
overruled. Further, Plaintiff has not presented arigesxce to dispute the accuracy of the statements
contained in paragraphs 8 throw@0 and 32 through 44; therefore, these statements are deemed
undisputed to the extent they are supported by evidence in the ré&®ee®.D. Fla. L.R. 56.1(b) (“All
material facts set forth in the movant’'s statetrfded and supported as required above will be deemed
admitted unless controverted by the opposing partgtestent, provided that the Court finds that the
movant’s statement is supported by evidence in the record.”).

3
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PayPal Credit's homepage does not aonany references to Comenitid. at § 14. The
website’s references to Comenity are locatethenFrequently Asked Questions page, which can
only be accessed by selecting the “FAQ” lirl. at  15. Comenity’s rolas the true creditor is
not revealed unless amsumer goes under “PayPal Credit Basiand selects “What is PayPal
Credit.” Id. at § 16. At this pointt is revealed that “PayPal Credhta line of cedit offered by
Comenity Capital Bank that gives you the flexilyilio pay for your purchase now, or pay over
time.” Id. The FAQs also make limited references Comenity when discussing credit
approval. SeeECF No. [35-4]. Other thathese few references to Comenity, the remainder of
the FAQs refer to the financial product offered as “PayPal Credit.” ECF No. [35] at § 17. Other
FAQs include topics such as:) (How do | pay my PayPal Crediill?” (2) “How do | manage
my PayPal Crediaccount?” (3) “Why should | link myrayPal Credit and PayPal accounts?”
and (4) “Where else can | use PayPal Credit?”

When applying for PayPal Credit, consumensst select the “Apply Now” button on the
website, which brings up the following statement in large block lettering: “Get No Payments +
No Interest if Paid in full in 6 months g@iurchases of $99 or more when you check out with
PayPal Credit.” ECF No. [35] at §21. PayPa¢dir is displayed prominently on the top of the
screen in large bold letters throughout the anlepplication processsuch as the screen
requesting the consumer’s name, address, phomdber as well as thersen requesting other
confidential information.Id. at  23. Similarly, the last pagé the applicatia process contains
the “PayPal Credit Terms and Conditionsghich include “PayPal Credit Important

Disclosures.d. at 1 24-25.
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At the bottom of the application site, it discloses in smaller type that “PayPal Credit is
subject to credit approval, as determined byléimeler, Comenity Capital Bank.” ECF No. [35]
at 1 22. The “PayPal Credliterms and Conditions” provideduring the appliation process
explain the relationship betweétayPal Credit and Comenity lgysclosing that the product is
called “PayPal Credit,” but the consumer’s agreement is with Comenit. at  26.
Specifically, the terms and conditis state that “PayPal Credit a open-ended credit plan
offered by Comenity Capital Bank (the ‘Lender’). By using PayPal Credit to complete a
purchase, you apply for credit and agree you maad the Terms and Conditions, including the
Agreement to Arbitrate, as well as the Priv&nlicy; and authorize éhLender to review your
credit report.” Id. at § 27. The “PayPal Credit Ament Agreement” also explains the
relationship as follows: “This Agreement sets forth the terms and conditions of the PayPal Credit
Account (‘Account’) and the e&nsion of credit made byomenity Capital Bank (the
‘Lender’).” Id. at  28.

Once a consumer has been approved for a PayPal Credit account and chooses to make an
online purchase with PayPal Credit, the consuwiéirbe directed to the PayPal homepage to
authorize the chargeSeeECF No. [35] at 11 32-34. The caomser can also check the balance
on the PayPal Credit account by logging into PayRdl.at § 37. The PayPal home screen
provides account information for two separaaccounts — the amount of money in the
consumer’s PayPal account and the medaowed on the PayPal Credit accould. at T 38.
Under “Statements,” the consumer can see tlmlable credit, the total credit line, and the
balance owed — all of which are iderd under the heading “PayPal Creditd. at  39. When

paying off the balance on the PayPal Creditoaot, the consumer makes the payments to
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“PayPal Credit,” not Comenity BanKd. at  42. This is done bme by selecting the “Make a

Payment” option located undernedlie section of the websitetdding the amount owed on the
PayPal Credit accountd. at § 43. Similarly, when payingavicheck, the consumer must mail
the check to PayPal Credit, P.O. Box 105658, Atlanta, GA 30348-3d858t 1 43.

3. Procedural History

In the Motion, Defendant seeks summangdgment on all claims in the Amended
Complaint. SeeECF No. [34]. Defendant gues that the demand lettdwes not fail to name the
creditor to whom the debt is owed under ®2dy(a)(2) and it des not otherwise contain any
misleading or false statements in violation of § 1692e. Plaintiff's Response and Defendant’s
Reply followed. SeeECF Nos. [58] and [67]. Plaintitilso sought leave to file a Sur-Reply,
which was grantedSeeECF No. [68], [70], and [71]. Té&Motion is now ripe for review.

II.  LEGAL STANDARD

A court may grant a motion for summary judgmé&hthe movant shows that there is no
genuine dispute as to any material fact andntioeant is entitled to judgment as a matter of
law.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(a). The parties may support their positions by citation to the record,
including, inter alia, depositions, documents, aféivits, or declarations.SeeFed. R. Civ. P.
56(c). An issue is genuine if “a reasonable trier of fact couldrrrejudgment for the
non-moving party.” Miccosukee Tribe of Indians of Fla. v. United Statds F. 3d 1235, 1243
(11th Cir. 2008) (quoting\nderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inat77 U.S. 242, 247-48 986)). A fact
is material if it “might affect the outtne of the suit under the governing lawld. (quoting
Anderson 477 U.S. at 247-48). The court views tlaet$ in the light most favorable to the

non-moving party and draws all reasomalihferences in the party’s favorSee Davis v.
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Williams 451 F.3d 759, 763 (11th Cir. 2006). “The mexestence of a scirka of evidence in
support of the [non-moving party’s] position whke insufficient; there must be evidence on
which a jury could reasonably find for the [non-moving partyiriderson477 U.S. at 252. The
Court does not weigh conflicting evidenc&ee Skop v. City of Atlanta, G485 F.3d 1130,
1140 (11th Cir. 2007) (quotinGarlin Comm’n, Inc. v. S. Bell Tel. & Tel. C&02 F.2d 1352,
1356 (11th Cir. 1986)).

The moving party shoulders the initial burdindemonstrate the absence of a genuine
issue of material factSee Shiver v. Chertp49 F.3d 1342, 1343 (11th Cir. 2008). If a movant
satisfies this burden, “the nonmoving party ‘mustngdare than simply show that there is some
metaphysical doubt as to the material factRay v. Equifax Info. Servs., L.L,B27 F. App’X
819, 825 (11th Cir. 2009) (quotindatsushita Elec. Indus. Cd.td. v. Zenith Radio Corp475
U.S. 574, 586 (1986)). Instead, “then-moving party ‘must make sufficient showing on each
essential element of the case foriehhhe has the burden of proof.1d. (quotingCelotex Corp.

v. Catrett 477 U.S. 317, 322 (1986)). The non-moving party must produce evidence, going
beyond the pleadings, and by its own affidavits, or by depositions, answers to interrogatories,
and admissions on file, designatingesific facts to suggest thatraasonable jury could find in

the non-moving party’s favor.Shiver 549 F.3d at 1343. But even where an opposing party
neglects to submit any alleged material §aot controversy, a couicannot grant summary
judgment unless it is satisfied that all of thedewmce on the record supp®the uncontroverted
material facts that th movant has proposedsee Reese v. HerbeB27 F.3d 1253, 1268-69,

1272 (11th Cir. 2008)Jnited States v. One Piece of RPabp. Located at 5800 S.W. 74th Ave.,

Miami, Fla, 363 F.3d 1099, 1103 n.6 (11th Cir. 2004).
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1.  DISCUSSION

Plaintiff has filed suit under the FDCPAyhich is a “consumer-protection statute
intended to ‘eliminate abusive debt collectipractices’ to ensure that ‘debt collectors who
refrain from using abusive debt collection pregesi are not competitively disadvantaged,” and ‘to
promote consistent state actionprotecting consumers agadimgbt collection abusesl’eonard
v. Swickey 2017 WL 4979160, at *2 (11th CiNov. 1, 2017) (quotin@avidson v. Capital One
Bank (USA), N.A.797 F.3d 1309, 1312-13 (11th Cir. 2015)The FDCPA regulates “debt
collector” conduct by giving consumers the right te siebt collectors thatolate its provisions.

Id. (citing Crawford v. LVNV Funding, LLC758 F.3d 1254, 1258 (11th Cir. 2014)). In an
FDCPA claim, a plaintiffmust prove that: “(1) the plaintiff has been the object of collection
activity arising from consumer debt; (2) thefetedant is a debt c@ttor as defined by the
FDCPA; and (3) the defendant has engagedniract or omission prabhited by the FDCPA.”
Anselmi v. Shendell & Assoc., B.No. 12-61599-CIV-WILLIAMS, 2015 WL 11121357, at *2
(S.D. Fla. June 6, 2015). The first two elemdmdse are undisputed. @lonly issue before the
Court is whether Simm engaged in an@ocbmission that the FDCPA prohibits.

The Amended Complaint asserts two separate but related FDCPA violations. The first is
pursuant to § 1692g, which requiresittiwithin five days of té initial communication with a
consumer regarding a debt collection, the debector must provide certain information if not
already contained in the initial communicatioBeel5 U.S.C. § 1692g(a). At issue is Simm’s
alleged failure to provide writtemotice containing “the name ofdfcreditor to whom the debt is

owed” as required by 8 1692g(a)(2). PIdiidi second claim arises from § 1692e, which
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provides that “[a] debt collector may not use &dge, deceptive, or misleading representation or
means in connection with the collection of any debt.” 15 U.S.C. § 1692e.

Allegations of FDCPA violatins are evaluated using the “least sophisticated consumer”
perspective, which assumes the consumesses{es] a rudimentary amount of information
about the world and a willingness to readaollection notice with some carel’eonard 2017
WL 4979160 at *2 (alteration in original) (quotihg@Blanc v. Unifund CCR Partner601 F.3d
1185, 1193-94 (11th Cir. 2010) addter v. Credit Bureau, Inc760 F.2d 1168, 1175 (11th Cir.
1985)). Using this standard, the FDCPA pra€ettaive consumers” while at the same time
“prevent[ing] liability for bizarre or idiosyncte interpretations of collections notices by
preserving a quotient of reasonableneskl’ (quotingLeBlang 601 F.3d at 1194). Applying
this standard, the Court addses each of Plaintiff's claims.

1. Section 1692¢g

Plaintiff first argues that §m violated 8§ 1692g(a)(2) by failg to disclose the “name of
the creditor to whom the debt is owed” in that the demand letter identifies Comenity as the
“original creditor” and PayPal Credit as the “cliebtt fails to identify Comenity as the “current
creditor.” Simm argues that @¢omplied with the requirementnd spirit of the FDCPA by
disclosing the actual creditor, Comenity, and by also identifying PayPal Credit as the client - the
name the consumer would recogniZehe Court agrees with Simm.

In order for a debt collector to satisfy thsclosure requirements § 1692g, “the debt
collector’s notice must state thegrered information clearly enoughatthe recipient is likely to
understand it.” Leonard 2017 WL 4979160 at *3 (quotindanetos v. Fulton Friedman &

Gullace, LLR 825 F.3d 317, 321 (7th Cir. 2016) aRdssell v. Equifax A.R,S/4 F.3d 30, 35
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(2d Cir. 1996)). This means that a naive comsr should be able to read the notice and
understand the creditor’s identityd. (citing Bouff v. Rubin Lublin, LLC674 F.3d 1238, 1241
(11th Cir. 2012)). The FDCPAoes not specify how the creditor must be named or otherwise
provide a definition for the word “name” in the statuté. Confronted withwhether a creditor’s
identity was adequately disclosed under the FRQRe Eleventh Circuit recently held that “a
debt collector may use the creditor’'s full lmess name, the name under which the creditor
usually transacts business,aocommonly used acronymld. at *4. Signifcantly, it found that

a demand letter’s identification of the creditor'd fame may not “result in greater clarity to a
naive consumer, who may be more famil\ath a commonly used trade nameld. (holding
there was no FDCPA violation when the deméetter identified “American Express” as the
creditor instead of “American Express Cemdar Bank” or “American Express Receivables
Financing Corporation, LLC” because “Ameainh Express” was the name under which the
creditor conducted business and it veasnmonly referred to by that namesge also Eul v.
Transworld Sys.No. 15 C 7755, 2017 WL 1178537, at *30.INIll. Mar. 30, 2017) (finding
there was nothing false or misleading as a matter of law when the demand letter identified the
creditor generally as “Nation&lollegiate Trust” rather thahy its precise name even though
there were 75 other trusts in the stateose names included “National CollegiateCampbell v.
American Recovery Servs. Inblo. 2:15-cv-09079-ODW-AGR2016 WL 3219866, at *3 (C.D.
Cal. June 8, 2016) (dismissing EPA claim when demand lettereidtified “American Express”

as the creditor rather than a sfiesubsidiary becausthat is the name by which the company is
commonly referred to and under which the fioc@l services company usually transacts

business).

10
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Here, Simm argues that Comenity held Iftsut as PayPal Credit for purposes of
extending credit to Plaintifand, thus, the demand letter used the name under which it usually
transacts business in complan with the FDCPA'’s requirement Plaintiff counters that
Comenity Bank does not normally transact busiassBayPal Credit because it extends credit to
consumers at approximately 170 retail outlets aatl ttie two entities are not one in the same.
While it may be true that Comenity, as a bankeeas credit to customers of other stores under
store-branded credit cards and that ComeBi#ynk and PayPal Credit are separate entities,
Plaintiff’'s argument misses theipt The Court must analyzeghacts from thgerspective of
the least sophisticated consumdronis receiving the demand lettat issue. In this case, the
least sophisticated consumer is receiving a ledkating to his or her R&al Credit account.

The undisputed facts reveal that a consumieo whooses to open a PayPal Credit account is
unlikely to know that Comenity ithe bank ultimately providing theredit and thus the creditor.

This is because PayPal Cresliadvertising makes no refemnto Comenity; the application
process makes no reference to Comenity except in the small print; the process by which the
consumer can charge an online purchase torhier PayPal Credit account makes no reference

to Comenity; and the process by which the consumer pays off the PayPal Credit account likewise
makes no reference to Comenity. Rather, Catylsnidentity as the bank extending credit is

only disclosed to the consumer in the fine priithin the PayPal Credit Terms and Conditions

and the FAQs. Thus, the l¢asophisticated consumer maever know or understand that
PayPal Credit is not the actual creditor and thainenity — an entity the consumer may have
never heard of — is the actual creditoEee Leonard2017 WL 4979160 at *5 (“A naive

consumer, who is unfamiliar with the internal porate structure of [the defendant] would be no

11
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more confused as to the idiytof the creditor by the commonlysed [name] than by [its] full
business name.”). Thus, from the perspectivéhefleast sophisticatesbnsumer receiving the
demand letter at issue, Simm identified the namger which Comenity traacted business with
PayPal Credit account holdeisuch as Plaintiff.

The Court finds a factuallyanalogous case from the Soeetn District of Florida
persuasive her®emonte v. Client Servs., In&lo. 14-cv-14511, 2015 WL 12556159, (S.D. Fla.
July 29, 2015). Ibemontethe creditor, CFNA, had issued a private label Firestone-Tires Plus
credit card to Plaintiff for usen Firestone-Tires Plus storedd. at *1. After failing to make
payments on the card, the plaintiff receivedeanand letter that contained the account number,
the balance due, the last payment date, thadvords “RE: FIRESTONE-TIRES PLUS.Id.

The demand letter explained the account had pésoed with the defendant debt collector for
the purpose of collecting the deldd. Much like the case here, the plaintiff alleged the demand
letter violated 88 16929 and 1692e for failing to kifgrCFNA as the creditor to whom the debt
was owed and instead misleadingly identiflédestone-Tires Plus as the creditdd. It was
undisputed that CFNA was the actual creditod ¢ghat the demand letter made no mention of
CFNA. Id. at *3. In granting summaryglgment in favor of the delobllector, the court found
that “[wlhen the Demand Letter is read as hole, the least sophisticated consumer would,
therefore, understand that the ‘Re: FirestoiresT Plus’ simply indicates that Defendant’s
Demand Letter was from a debt collector seeltimgecover on the conswms debt relating to
their CFNA/Firestone-Tires Plus credit cardd.

In this case, similar tdemonte Simm’s demand letter left no room for confusion in the

eyes of the least sophisticated consumer. The letter allowed the consumer to easily identify the

12
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nature of the debt by disclosing PayPal Credit Simm’s client, Comenity as the original
creditor, the amount of the debfcathe PayPal Credit account numb8eeECF No. [8-1]. The
first paragraph of the demand letter states: ‘tYaxcount has been forwarded to [Simm’s] office
for collections.” SeeECF No. [8-1]. Significantly, the pportion of the letter identifies the
complete PayPal Credit account number, elatimg any doubt as tahich account has been
forwarded to Simm for collectionsld. In addition, the demandtter informs Plaintiff that
Simm’s “client, PAYPAL CREDIT” has authorizedth accept a discounted payoff to settle the
account in full. Id. Again, the letter references PayPa¢dit — the name by which Comenity has
been transacting business with Plaintiff on thgH2& Credit account. Wheead as a whole, the
demand letter clearly identifies the creditor ie thay the consumer is accustomed to transacting
business with it — PayPal Credit, while stillerdifying the technical name of the creditor,
Comenity, and while providing additional details, such as balance and account number, that
dispel any doubt as togmature of the debtSee Hammett v. Alliance® Receivables Mgm't,
Inc., No. 11-3172, 2011 WL 3819848 (E.D. Penn. Aug. 30, 2(firiding that the identity of the
creditor was clear even thoughetletter referred to PNC Bank #se “client” instead of the
“creditor” when the letter stated “[y]Jour accourds been referred to oaffice for Collections”
and it included the account number andaheunt of the outstaling principal).

Plaintiff also faults Simm for not disclosing Comenity as the “current creditor” instead of
the “original creditor.” Nowhere in 8 1692g is there a requirement that such verbiage be used.

All that is required is that the debt collectosaose the creditor to whom the debt is owed and

13
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for the reasons explained above, the Counddi that Simm adequately satisfied this
requirement,

2. Section 1692e

Plaintiff next seeks to hold Simm liablender 8 1692e for using a false, deceptive, or
misleading representation in its demand letter when it did not identify Comenity as the current
creditor. “A debt collector’$ailure to provide the informain required by 8§ 1692¢ is actionable
as a violation of § 1692e ‘if the variance is onat tvould tend to misleatte least sophisticated
consumer.” Leonard 2017 WL 4979160, at *4 (quotir@aceres v. McCalla Raymer, LIL.Z55
F.3d 1299, 1304 (11th Cir. 2014)). “[Clourts arducgant to impose #bility for alleged
technical violations of the FOPA that do not mislead or clive the least sophisticated
consumer.” Demonte 2015 WL 12556159 at *2. When detening FDCPA liability, courts
“are not concerned with mere techni€alsehoods that mislead no ondd. (quotingDonahue
v. Quick Collect, In¢.592 F.3d 1027, 1034 (9th Cir. 2010)). I{Dmisrepresentations that are
material may constitute &iolation of the FDCPA. Anselmj 2015 WL 11121357 at *6
(collecting cases). “To be mataki‘a statement must influeneeconsumer’s decision or ability
to pay or challenge a debt.’1d. (quotingMiljkovic v. Shafritz & Dinkin, P.A.No. 8-14-CV-
635-T-33TBM, 2014 WL 3587550, at *8 (M.D. Fla. Julg, 2014)). As aesult, only those

misstatements that “could objectively affect thast sophisticated consumer’s decisionmaking

% In addition, the Court notes that such informatiosuld likely create confusion from the perspective of
the least sophisticated consumer.Diemonte the district court noted that the inclusion of the merchant’s
name in the demand letter would assist the least sophisticated consumer as “many consumers may not
understand that when he or she applies for and receives a private-label credit card, the actual creditor on
the account is not the merchant, but rather some unheard of emdityat *3, n. 1. The same holds true
here because PayPal Credit consumers may not have ever heard of Comenity.

14
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are actionable.” Id. (quotingPowell v. Palisades Acquisition XVI, L1.€014 WL 7191354, at
*6-7 (4th Cir. Dec. 18, 2014)).

As explained above, the Court finds thihe demand letter adequately identified the
creditor to whom the debt is owed. Evaecepting that there exists a hyper-technical FDCPA
violation here, the Court’s review of the demaniteleleads it to concludgat it is not material
as there is nothing misleading about its cont@imere is nothing thatvould influence the
consumer’s decision to pay the debt or otheswcause an unsophisticated consumer to be
concerned about paying the incatrereditor. This is becauske consumer’s experience with
PayPal Credit requires that consumers issue pagnerPayPal Credit — not Comenity - to pay
down or pay off what is owed on the account. eWipaying down the account online, the PayPal
Credit website only identifies PayPal Credit withany reference to Comenity. Likewise, if the
consumer chooses to pay down or pay offRagPal Credit account by mail with a check, the
consumer is sending the payment to: PayRatit, P.O. Box 105658, Atlanta, GA 30348-5658.
Moreover, the demand letter informs the consurihat “our client, PAYPAL CREDIT, has
authorized us to accept a disnited payoff of your current ousstding balance to settle the
account in full” and gives an email address of CustomerSdpaygieal @simmassociates.com
for details regarding payment offerSeeECF No. [8-1].

The demand letter’'s statement that PayRatit has authorized Simm to collect payment
on its behalf is consistent with the consumexxperience of issuing payments only to PayPal
Credit. Put simply, payment to PayPal Crésliall the consumer has known since the inception
of the credit relationship. For that reason, the least sophisticated consumer receiving the letter at

issue would not be concerned about the possitbfitheing defrauded or paying the incorrect
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creditor. Critically, analyzing théetter as a whole, it is neitheonfusing or misleading to the
least sophisticated consumer. Thus, the Court fasds matter of law that there does not exist a
violation of 8 1692e.
V. CONCLUSION
For the reasons s&t herein, it iORDERED AND ADJUDGED as follows:
1. Defendant’s Motion foSummary JudgmenECF No. [34], isGRANTED;
2. Pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Remlure 58, Final Judgment in favor of Simm
Associates, Inc. will issue by separate order;
3. The Clerk shall mark this cas# OSED; and
4. Any pending motions ar®ENIED AS MOOT,* any scheduled hearings are
CANCELLED, and all pending deadlines areRMINATED.

DONE AND ORDERED in Miami, Florida this8th day of February, 2018.

BETH BLOOM
UNITED STATESDISTRICT JUDGE

* The Court is cognizant that the parties contemporaneously briefed Detfsndi@tion for Summary
Judgment along with Plaintiff's Motion for Class Cadiftion and that the latter has not yet been ruled
upon. SeeECF Nos. [28] and [34]. However, it is withiine Court’s discretion to consider the merits of
Plaintiffs FDCPA claims before determimg their amenability to class certificatioiKehoe v. Fid. Fed.
Bank & Tr, 421 F.3d 1209, 1211 (11th CROO05) (collecting casesTelfair v. First Union Mortgage
Corp., 216 F.3d 1333, 1343 (11th Cir. 2000) (collecting casélélgssid v. Bank of Am., N,ANo. 14-
CIV-20484, 2015 WL 11216720, at *1 (S.D. Fla. May 29, 2015) (finding that the rule against one-way
intervention in putative class action lawsuits is mplicated when the defendant, rather than the
plaintiff, is the party moving for summary judgmenijhe Court has determined that Plaintiffs FDCPA
claims cannot survive summary judgment. For tleatson, the Court need not decide whether such
claims are appropriate for class certification.
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